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Committee against Torture 

  Decision adopted by the Committee under article 22 of the 
Convention, concerning communication No. 923/2019*, ** 

Communication submitted by: M.B. (represented by counsel, Olfa Ouled) 

Alleged victim: The complainant 

State party: Morocco 

Date of complaint: 14 February 2019 (initial submission) 

Document references: Decision taken pursuant to rules 114 and 115 of 
the Committee’s rules of procedure, transmitted to 
the State party on 1 April 2019 (not issued in 
document form) 

Date of adoption of decision: 19 November 2021 

Subject matter: Torture in detention 

Procedural issues: Exhaustion of domestic remedies; abuse of the 
right to submit a complaint 

Substantive issues: Torture and cruel, inhuman or degrading 
treatment or punishment; measures to prevent acts 
of torture or cruel, inhuman or degrading 
treatment or punishment; systematic monitoring 
of custody and treatment of prisoners; State 
party’s obligation to ensure that its competent 
authorities proceed to a prompt and impartial 
investigation; right to file a complaint; right to 
redress 

Articles of the Convention: 1, 2, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16 

1.1 The complainant is M.B., a national of Morocco born in Western Sahara in 1970. He 
claims that the State party has violated his rights under articles 1, 2, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16 
of the Convention. The State party has made the declaration pursuant to article 22 (1) of the 
Convention effective from 19 October 2006. The complainant is represented by counsel, Olfa 
Ouled. 

  
 * Adopted by the Committee at its seventy-second session (8 November–3 December 2021). 
 ** The following members of the Committee participated in the examination of the communication: 

Claude Heller, Erdoğan İşcan, Ilvija Pūce, Ana Racu, Diego Rodríguez-Pinzón, Bakhtiyar 
Tuzmukhamedov and Peter Vedel Kessing. Pursuant to rule 109, read in conjunction with rule 15, of 
the Committee’s rules of procedure, and paragraph 10 of the guidelines on the independence and 
impartiality of members of the human rights treaty bodies (the Addis Ababa guidelines), Essadia 
Belmir did not participate in the examination of the communication. 
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1.2 
O

n 1 A
pril 2019, pursuant to rule 114 (1) of its rules of procedure, and taking into 

account the inform
ation provided by the com

plainant, the C
om

m
ittee, acting through its 

R
apporteur on new

 com
plaints and interim

 m
easures, requested the State party to: (a) suspend 

all use of solitary confinem
ent against the com

plainant; (b) allow
 the com

plainant to be 
visited by a doctor of his choice; and (c) identify and im

m
ediately im

plem
ent alternative 

m
easures to detention, such as house arrest, in order to avoid any deterioration in his state of 

health. O
n 2 June 2020, the request for interim

 m
easures w

as reiterated. 1 O
n 23 O

ctober 2020, 
in the light of new

 allegations of reprisals against the com
plainant, the request for interim

 
m

easures w
as again reiterated and the State party w

as asked to adopt new
 protection m

easures 
for the com

plainant, nam
ely to: (a) conduct a prom

pt and effective investigation into the 
com

plainant’s allegations of reprisals; (b) refrain from
 all acts of intim

idation or reprisal 
against the com

plainant and adopt all necessary m
easures to protect him

; (c) allow
 the 

com
plainant to m

eet w
ith his counsel and fam

ily by videoconference or telephone in strict 
confidence and be visited by his counsel, as a m

atter of urgency, as soon as m
easures taken 

in response to the coronavirus disease (C
O

V
ID

-19) pandem
ic are lifted; and (d) explain w

hy 
the com

plainant w
as tem

porarily placed in the infirm
ary of Tifelt 2 prison until his transfer 

by providing the relevant m
edical report ordering this placem

ent. 2 O
n 28 Septem

ber 2021, in 
light of the com

plainant’s allegations that the interim
 m

easures had still not been brought 
into effect, the C

om
m

ittee reiterated its request for interim
 m

easures to be taken. 3 

 
 

Facts as subm
itted by the com

plainant 

2.1 
From

 9 O
ctober 2010, thousands of Saharans living in W

estern Sahara m
oved to 

tem
porary cam

ps located on the outskirts of tow
ns, including the G

deim
 Izik cam

p near 
Laâyoune. The aim

 of this action w
as to denounce the discrim

ination to w
hich Saharans 

consider them
selves to be subjected by the State party. The com

plainant stresses that he did 
not participate in the creation of the cam

p since, at that tim
e, he w

as in hospital for an 
operation, and that he w

ent to the cam
p only on 19 O

ctober 2010. O
n 1 N

ovem
ber 2010, he 

received a surprise visit from
 a special envoy of the State party w

ho allegedly offered him
 a 

job and m
oney in exchange for dism

antling the cam
p. 

2.2 
O

n 8 N
ovem

ber 2010, M
oroccan soldiers arm

ed w
ith w

ater cannons and tear gas 
attacked the G

deim
 Izik cam

p, w
hich, at the tim

e, w
as occupied by m

ore than 20,000 
Saharans. D

uring the forced evacuation of the cam
p, clashes broke out betw

een the arm
y and 

Saharan dem
onstrators, during w

hich M
oroccan soldiers w

ere reportedly killed. This w
as 

follow
ed by a violent w

ave of repression led by the M
oroccan security forces and supported 

by M
oroccan civilians residing in Saharan territory. 

2.3 
O

n the sam
e day, at around 6 a.m

., the com
plainant, w

ho w
as accused of being one of 

the instigators of the creation of the cam
p, w

as taken aw
ay by the M

oroccan authorities. H
e 

explains that he w
as handcuffed, blindfolded and given a violent blow

 to the head, w
hich 

caused bleeding, and blow
s to the legs w

ith a blunt object. H
e w

as taken to the gendarm
erie 

of Laâyoune, to an office w
here he w

as handcuffed w
ith plastic ties. H

e w
as then suspended 

upside dow
n from

 a bar placed behind his knees w
hile handcuffed and subjected to electric 

shocks. H
e w

as show
ered w

ith blow
s to his legs w

ith an unspecified object for alm
ost 30 

m
inutes, w

hich caused him
 pain and dizziness. In the afternoon, he w

as violently slapped, 
causing him

 to bleed. In the evening, he w
as able to eat and drink but w

as not allow
ed to go 

to the toilet. H
e fell asleep on the floor. The follow

ing day, a doctor took his blood pressure 
and sim

ply gave him
 a pill. D

uring his four days in detention, he w
as struck w

ith an object 
on his back and lim

bs, resulting in w
idespread pain and loss of function. H

e explains that his 
fam

ily w
as never inform

ed of his detention. 

 
 

 
1 See the State party’s response in para. 6. 

 
2 See the State party’s response in paras. 9.1 and 9.2. 

 
3 In his com

m
ents of 24 Septem

ber 2021, the com
plainant em

phasizes the com
plete lack of 

im
plem

entation of the interim
 m

easures by the State party. H
e states that the solitary confinem

ent in 
w

hich he w
as being held had been further stepped up and that he has not been able to leave his cell, 

w
hich m

easures no m
ore than 5 m

2, for over three m
onths. H

e asserts that he is regularly subjected to 
reprisals and searches. 
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2.4 
O

n the night of 11 to 12 N
ovem

ber 2010, after four days in detention, the com
plainant 

w
as taken to Laâyoune C

ourt of First Instance, handcuffed and blindfolded. H
e w

as left to 
w

ait for alm
ost four hours in a room

 w
ith several other detainees. U

nder duress and w
hile 

being kicked, he signed a report w
hile still blindfolded, in the presence of a colonel. 

Subsequently, the crim
inal investigation departm

ent presented the m
ilitary investigating 

judge w
ith the interrogation record supposedly signed by the com

plainant and his co-
defendants, containing his confessions, w

hich he w
as not able to read and has consistently 

denied. The com
plainant m

ade a com
plaint to the investigating judge, but the judge did not 

take into account his allegations and injuries and did not ask for a m
edical exam

ination to be 
carried out. The com

plainant w
as then taken back to the gendarm

erie. 

2.5 
The follow

ing day, at around 6 a.m
., the com

plainant w
as flow

n to R
abat, lying face 

dow
n and w

ith his ankles tied. O
n arrival, he w

as taken by m
ilitary court officials and placed 

in a jail, w
here he w

as again beaten w
ith a blunt object on his forearm

s and thighs, causing 
him

 pain. H
e w

as then placed in detention at Salé prison, w
here he spent the first night 

standing, handcuffed to a w
ire fence. The com

plainant states that, during the first few
 m

onths, 
he w

as slapped, hit, insulted and hum
iliated by guards. H

e w
as placed in solitary confinem

ent 
from

 18 N
ovem

ber 2010 for alm
ost four m

onths. H
e w

as not allow
ed to w

alk around. H
e 

kept asking to see a doctor. H
e w

as sim
ultaneously prescribed m

ore than 24 different drugs, 
som

e w
ith opposite effects and not recom

m
ended for the illnesses from

 w
hich he suffers. 

2.6 
H

aving substantiated the indictm
ent, the investigating judge referred the case to the 

m
ilitary court. The trial of the com

plainant and his co-defendants w
as held in R

abat, initially 
on 1 February and then from

 8 to 13 February 2013. O
n 17 February 2013, the defendants all 

received heavy sentences on the basis of confessions that they disputed, claim
ing to have 

been tortured. The com
plainant w

as sentenced to 30 years’ im
prisonm

ent. D
uring the m

ilitary 
trial, the com

plainant reported the acts of torture inflicted on him
 and requested an 

investigation. In its interim
 order of 8 February 2013, the m

ilitary court recorded the 
defendants’ allegations of torture but did not grant the request for an investigation. A

fter the 
trial, several international organizations highlighted the lack of evidence and the absence of 
an effective investigation into the allegations of torture. 4 

2.7 
O

n 27 July 2016, the M
oroccan C

ourt of C
assation overturned the 2013 judgm

ent of 
the m

ilitary court that im
posed a stiff sentence on the com

plainant w
ithout any evidence other 

than his confession signed under torture. The C
ourt of C

assation referred the case to the R
abat 

court of appeal, and a new
 trial began on 26 D

ecem
ber 2016. Throughout the trial, all the 

defendants repeatedly asked the court of appeal to annul the records signed under torture and 
to rem

ove them
 from

 the case file. 5 

2.8 
O

n 19 July 2017, the R
abat court of appeal upheld the com

plainant’s 30-year sentence. 
The com

plainant states that, despite his allegations of torture, the court did not initiate a 
form

al investigation. It m
erely ordered a m

edical exam
ination by three M

oroccan forensic 
doctors 

w
ho 

w
ere 

not 
trained 

in 
the 

M
anual 

on 
the 

Effective 
Investigation 

and 
D

ocum
entation of Torture and O

ther C
ruel, Inhum

an or D
egrading Treatm

ent or Punishm
ent 

(Istanbul 
Protocol) 

and did 
not 

provide 
adequate 

guarantees 
of 

independence. 
The 

com
plainant points out that other co-defendants had refused to undergo a m

edical 
exam

ination for this reason. The report of the m
edical exam

ination concluded that “his 
current sym

ptom
s and the objective findings of our exam

ination are not specific to the various 
alleged m

ethods of torture”. The court therefore considered this as evidence that no acts of 
torture had occurred. In July 2017, the com

plainant and his co-defendants lodged an appeal 
in cassation that is still pending. The com

plainant notes that his previous appeal had been 
successful only after three years and that, in any event, the C

ourt of C
assation w

ill once again 
deal only w

ith m
atters of law

. 

 
 

 
4 H

um
an R

ights W
atch, M

orocco: Tainted Trial of Sahraw
i C

ivilians, 1 A
pril 2013. 

 
5 This request w

as rejected by the public prosecutor’s office, w
hich did not launch an investigation, in 

violation of the C
rim

inal C
ode. M

oreover, the court decided to consider the essential m
atter of 

w
hether the records w

ere null and void together w
ith the m

erits of the case, as can be seen from
 the 

judgm
ent. Thus, the records could be discussed during the six m

onths of the trial, and, despite a 
request for their annulm

ent, the decision on their validity w
as handed dow

n only at the end, at the 
sam

e tim
e as the verdict. 
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2.9 
O

n 16 Septem
ber 2017, the com

plainant w
as transferred from

 El A
rjat prison to 

K
enitra prison. H

is fam
ily and law

yer w
ere not inform

ed. D
uring the transfer, he w

as 
m

istreated. H
e did not receive either a blanket or his m

edication on arrival. O
n 19 and 20 

Septem
ber 2017, the com

plainant and the other detainees w
ent on a hunger strike against the 

ill-treatm
ent and the arbitrary transfer to a prison even further aw

ay from
 their fam

ilies. H
e 

w
as placed in a dam

p, poorly ventilated cell w
ith m

ould-covered w
alls from

 w
hich w

ater w
as 

dripping. H
e w

as repeatedly confined to his cell for 22 hours a day. H
is fam

ily w
as no longer 

able to visit him
 every w

eek, as the prison is m
ore than 1,200 kilom

etres from
 Laâyoune, and 

telephone calls w
ith his fam

ily w
ere perm

itted only once per w
eek, for a few

 m
inutes. 

2.10 
O

n 1 M
arch 2018, the com

plainant and the other detainees w
ent on a 24-hour hunger 

strike, refusing to eat unless they w
ere brought closer to their fam

ilies and stopped being 
subjected to daily harassm

ent by the guards. The prison governor inform
ed the detainees that 

he had received an official note stating that, if they started a hunger strike, they w
ould be 

placed in solitary confinem
ent. O

n 9 M
arch 2018, the com

plainant and the other inm
ates 

began another hunger strike and, as a punishm
ent, w

ere placed in solitary confinem
ent and 

allow
ed to have only 5 litres of w

ater and no sugar. The com
plainant’s counsel filed a 

com
plaint of ill-treatm

ent ow
ing to the prolonged solitary confinem

ent but received no 
response. 6 D

uring the 33 days of the hunger strike, the com
plainant w

as placed in a cell 
m

easuring just over 2 m
2 that had no ventilation, w

as extrem
ely dam

p, w
ith w

alls covered in 
m

ould, w
as cold, had no natural light, no bed, and did not m

eet m
inim

um
 standards of 

hygiene. The cell w
as full of verm

in, and the squat toilet w
as right next to his head w

hen he 
w

as sleeping. H
e did not see his doctor during the entire period of his solitary confinem

ent. 

2.11 
O

n 7 M
ay 2018, the com

plainant w
as m

oved to Tifelt 2 prison and then placed in 
solitary confinem

ent until 11 June 2018 for no reason. H
is counsel again com

plained to the 
authorities about inhum

an and degrading treatm
ent but received no response. O

n 12 O
ctober 

2018, the com
plainant w

as placed in solitary confinem
ent w

ithout any justification, in a 
punishm

ent cell. H
e w

ent on a hunger strike to protest against his placem
ent in solitary 

confinem
ent and w

as m
oved a few

 days later to his previous cell, w
hich is in the block for 

inm
ates w

ith m
ental health problem

s, even though the com
plainant had not been diagnosed 

w
ith any such problem

s. H
e contends that he w

as deprived of contact w
ith other prisoners, 

new
s from

 outside and his rights to contact his French law
yer of choice and receive regular 

visits from
 his fam

ily, and that he w
as unable to see a doctor from

 outside the prison. H
is 

unheated cell lacks natural light and ventilation. M
oreover, he does not receive his beta 

blocker regularly. 

2.12 
The com

plainant ended his hunger strike on 13 N
ovem

ber 2018, w
ithout any doctor 

or prison official having approached him
. The particularly severe treatm

ent to w
hich the 

com
plainant is being subjected is having a disastrous effect on his m

ental and physical state, 
particularly in the absence of m

edical care. 

 
 

The com
plaint 

3.1 
The com

plainant claim
s that the State party has violated his rights under articles 1, 2, 

11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16 of the C
onvention. 

3.2 
The com

plainant argues that the physical abuse he suffered constitutes torture under 
article 1 of the C

onvention. H
e w

as subjected to the so-called “suspension m
ethod” during 

interrogations and struck repeatedly w
ith a blunt object. H

e w
as also deprived of food and 

w
ater. H

e considers that this treatm
ent and his solitary confinem

ent also am
ount to cruel, 

inhum
an or degrading treatm

ent or punishm
ent under article 16 of the C

onvention. The 
com

plainant alleges that he did not have access to regular m
edical treatm

ent and that he w
as 

not seen by a doctor during the first days of his detention or the period of solitary confinem
ent. 

H
e also subm

its that the failure of the M
oroccan authorities to put in place an effective system

 
to prevent torture constitutes a violation of article 2 of the Convention. 

 
 

 
6 A

 copy of the com
plaints of ill-treatm

ent addressed by his representative to the M
inister of Justice on 

9 M
arch 2018 and to the public prosecutor and the C

row
n Prosecutor G

eneral on 19 M
arch 2018 is 

annexed to the com
m

unication. 
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3.3 
W

ith regard to article 11 of the C
onvention, the facts show

 that the State party did not 
keep under system

atic review
 arrangem

ents for the custody and treatm
ent of persons 

subjected to any form
 of arrest, detention or im

prisonm
ent in any territory under its 

jurisdiction. The detention conditions in M
orocco, m

alnutrition, ill-treatm
ent, abuse and lack 

of an effective com
plaint m

echanism
 for detainees have been described in various reports by 

international bodies. 7 

3.4 
The com

plainant alleges that the State party has failed to fulfil its obligations under 
articles 12 and 13 of the C

onvention. H
e states that, on 12 N

ovem
ber 2010, he appeared, 

bearing visible signs of torture, before the m
ilitary investigating judge, w

ho did not record 
these facts or his allegations of torture or open an im

m
ediate investigation. In addition, the 

m
ilitary court did not take into account his allegations of torture w

hen deciding on his 
conviction. The com

plainant subm
its that, in its report on its 2013 m

ission to M
orocco, the 

W
orking G

roup on A
rbitrary D

etention highlighted a failure to investigate the allegations of 
torture of detainees in the context of the events surrounding the dism

antling of the G
deim

 
Izik cam

p. 8 

3.5 
The com

plainant argues that the m
edical exam

ination ordered by the court of appeal 
m

any years after the alleged events does not am
ount to opening an official investigation into 

his allegations of torture, w
hich w

ould have involved recording his statem
ents in separate 

proceedings. C
ourt-appointed doctors exam

ined the defendants in 2017, alm
ost seven years 

after the alleged torture. The com
plainant states that his m

edical report and those of his co-
defendants w

ere subm
itted to four French and Spanish doctors, w

ho provided second 
opinions concluding that the Istanbul Protocol had not been respected. 9 These experts thus 
dem

onstrated that, despite the a priori conclusion of the expert reports that no torture had 
taken place, the allegations of torture of detainees rem

ain highly credible. 

3.6 
The com

plainant further alleges that the absence of an investigation prevented him
 

from
 receiving rehabilitation, reparation, com

pensation, support and guarantees of non-
repetition of the offence, in violation of article 14 of the C

onvention. 

3.7 
The com

plainant has consistently stated before the national authorities that his 
conviction w

as based solely on confessions obtained under torture, even though he claim
s 

that he did not confess to anything but w
as forced, w

hile he w
as handcuffed and blindfolded, 

to sign a docum
ent w

hose contents w
ere unknow

n to him
. B

y failing to carry out any checks, 
and by using such declarations in the judicial proceedings against the com

plainant, the State 
party m

anifestly violated its obligations under article 15 of the C
onvention. 

 
 

State party’s observations on adm
issibility and the m

erits 

4.1 
O

n 27 June 2019, the State party contested the adm
issibility of the com

plaint on the 
grounds of non-exhaustion of dom

estic rem
edies and abuse of the right to file a com

plaint. 

4.2 
The 

State 
party 

indicates 
that, 

follow
ing 

the 
investigations 

undertaken, 
the 

com
plainant, like other persons involved in the case related to the dism

antling of the G
deim

 

 
 

 
7 See, for exam

ple, A
/H

R
C

/22/53/A
dd.2. 

 
8 A

/H
R

C
/27/48/A

dd.5, para. 68. 
 

9 The com
plainant subm

its a docum
ent containing the conclusions of the second opinions given by D

rs. 
F.D

., S.U
., S.R

. and P.H
. The date on w

hich these second opinions w
ere provided is not indicated. 

The doctors considered that the findings of the 15 m
edical reports lacked credibility and did not m

eet 
the requirem

ents of the Istanbul Protocol because of: non-com
pliance w

ith the principles of 
independence and im

partiality of the experts, since they w
ere appointed by the court, w

hose role w
as 

to try the detainees; a failure to take into account the tim
e elapsed betw

een the dates of the alleged 
torture and those of the m

edical exam
inations; the fact that the exam

inations w
ere carried out in the 

correctional facility, rather than in neutral venues, w
ith only the m

edical expert present; the extrem
ely 

short duration of the interview
s; the inadequacy of the evaluation of traum

a and psychological harm
; 

the sum
m

ary, superficial and som
etim

es erroneous nature of the expert reports (som
e paragraphs w

ere 
copied and pasted); a lack of analysis of the detainees’ m

edical files in the prisons; the failure to 
establish an independent com

m
ission of enquiry despite the existence of a pattern of torture; and the 

fact that the findings of the 15 expert reports w
ere identical, w

ith no indication of the degree of 
com

patibility (specific, typical, highly com
patible, com

patible, incom
patible) of the injuries observed 

w
ith the abuse reported. 
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Izik cam
p, w

as brought before the m
ilitary court, in accordance w

ith M
oroccan crim

inal law
, 

on account of the nature and seriousness of the acts com
m

itted against law
 enforcem

ent 
officials, in particular the killing of 10 m

em
bers of the R

oyal G
endarm

erie, the D
irectorate-

G
eneral of N

ational Security and the A
uxiliary Forces, and one m

em
ber of the D

irectorate-
G

eneral of C
ivil Protection. 

4.3 
The persons concerned w

ere prosecuted and sentenced by the m
ilitary court on 17 

February 2013, in strict com
pliance w

ith guarantees of due process. The com
plainant w

as 
sentenced to 30 years’ im

prisonm
ent on charges of form

ing a crim
inal gang and violence 

against law
 enforcem

ent officials intentionally causing death. O
n 27 July 2016, the m

ilitary 
court’s decision w

as quashed, and the case w
as referred to a civil court: the R

abat court of 
appeal. 10 The trial took place before the C

rim
inal C

ham
ber from

 26 D
ecem

ber 2016 to 19 
July 2017. Interpretation into H

assānīya, a dialect spoken in southern M
orocco, w

as provided. 
In addition, interpretation into English, French and Spanish w

as provided for the foreign 
observers present. The C

ourt ensured that the evidence w
as debated in an adversarial hearing 

in the presence of the defendants, w
ho w

ere assisted by their legal representatives. 
O

bservance of all the aforem
entioned guarantees w

as confirm
ed by reports of the N

ational 
H

um
an R

ights C
ouncil. 

4.4 
O

n 19 July 2017, the R
abat court of appeal confirm

ed the charges and the resulting 
sentence against the com

plainant, nam
ely 30 years’ im

prisonm
ent. O

n 29 Septem
ber 2017, 

the defendants, including the com
plainant, subm

itted an appeal in cassation. The State party 
points out that the court has not yet ruled on the m

atter and that, in accordance w
ith the 

C
om

m
ittee’s jurisprudence, m

ere doubts as to the effectiveness of dom
estic judicial rem

edies 
do not absolve the com

plainant from
 the obligation to exhaust them

, including, w
here 

applicable, the rem
edy of cassation. 

4.5 
The State party adds that the com

plaint w
as filed alm

ost eight years after the alleged 
events took place. It expresses its surprise as to the real reasons w

hy the com
plainant w

aited 
all these years. 

4.6 
O

n the request for interim
 m

easures, the State party indicates that the com
plainant has 

been placed in a single room
 in a clinic and that, contrary to his allegations, he is not subject 

to any m
easure or form

 of solitary confinem
ent. H

e has the right to regular visits and 
telephone calls and is receiving appropriate m

edical care. The State party strongly contests 
the com

plainant’s allegations of physical and psychological abuse. 

4.7 
In its com

m
ents dated 20 D

ecem
ber 2019, the State party notes w

ith regret that a 
com

m
on link betw

een this com
m

unication and the other cases relating to the dism
antling of 

the G
deim

 Izik cam
p that are before the C

om
m

ittee is that they seek, under the cloak of 
num

erous allegations of hum
an rights abuses, to put forw

ard purely political dem
ands that 

fall outside the scope of the Com
m

ittee’s m
andate. 

4.8 
It states that the G

deim
 Izik cam

p w
as dism

antled in accordance w
ith relevant legal 

and regulatory provisions. In the course of the operation, the law
 enforcem

ent authorities 
show

ed 
professionalism

 
and 

extrem
e 

restraint, 
despite 

the 
attacks 

and 
deliberate 

provocations. 11 

4.9 
The State party reiterates that the com

m
unication is inadm

issible because the 
com

plainant’s appeal to the C
ourt of C

assation is still pending. In the event of a cassation 
decision and referral by the C

ourt, all the substantive and procedural issues and, inevitably, 
the m

atter of the application of the law
 (including, in the present case, the w

eight of the 
confessions 

allegedly 
obtained 

under 
torture, 

the 
process 

for 
conducting 

forensic 
exam

inations, and so on) m
ay be raised. 

 
 

 
10 In its com

m
ents of 20 D

ecem
ber 2019, the State party indicates that, follow

ing recom
m

endations by 
several organizations and m

echanism
s, including the C

om
m

ittee, it am
ended its legislation to ensure 

that acts com
m

itted by civilians are excluded from
 m

ilitary jurisdiction (A
ct N

o. 108-13 of 10 
D

ecem
ber 2014 on m

ilitary justice). 
 

11 The State party attaches a list of the law
 enforcem

ent officers w
ho lost their lives along w

ith photos 
illustrating the atrocities perpetrated in the G

deim
 Izik cam

p and the public order disturbances that 
occurred in Laâyoune on 8 N

ovem
ber 2010. 
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4.10 
The State party recalls that, in accordance w

ith articles 73, 74, 88 and 134 of the C
ode 

of C
rim

inal Procedure, the prosecutor or investigating judge m
ust order a m

edical 
exam

ination of a person brought before them
 if that person requests it or if they find signs of 

torture or ill-treatm
ent. In this case, no request for a m

edical exam
ination w

as m
ade by the 

com
plainant or his defence, and no signs of torture or ill-treatm

ent w
ere found during his 

presentation before the m
ilitary investigating judge in R

abat. 12 

4.11 
R

egarding the allegations of torture, the State party indicates that all persons have 
several judicial and extrajudicial rem

edies available to them
 w

ith respect to filing a com
plaint 

w
ith the public prosecutor’s office, the Prison Service – if they are in detention – or the 

N
ational H

um
an R

ights C
ouncil, w

hich has pow
ers to m

onitor places of detention. 13 

4.12 
The State party observes that the issue of the allegations of torture w

as raised by the 
defence during the civil proceedings and that the crim

inal cham
ber of the R

abat court of 
appeal prom

ptly granted the defence’s request for a m
edical exam

ination of the com
plainant. 

The court appointed a com
m

ission chaired by three doctors, including a specialist in 
traum

atology, orthopaedics and psychiatry. They carried out an expert exam
ination and 

m
edical tests in accordance w

ith the principles and guidelines of the Istanbul Protocol. The 
expert m

edical exam
ination conducted on 16 February and 13 M

arch 2017 involved 
interview

s regarding the com
plainant’s allegations, apparent sym

ptom
s and m

edical history, 
a clinical physical exam

ination, additional exam
inations, analyses of the m

edical file and the 
custody register and a forensic interview

 and study. The expert exam
ination concluded that 

the m
arks and com

plications suffered by the com
plainant w

ere not the result of torture or ill-
treatm

ent. It w
as therefore established that the allegations of torture w

ere unfounded. 14 

4.13 
The State party refutes the com

plainant’s claim
 that the forensic exam

inations w
ere 

entrusted to three M
oroccan forensic doctors w

ho w
ere not trained in the Istanbul Protocol 

and did not provide adequate guarantees of independence. O
n the contrary, the State party 

subm
its that everything possible w

as done to ensure that the forensic exam
inations w

ere 
carried out by highly qualified, im

partial and independent experts w
ho w

ere adm
itted to the 

M
oroccan courts and w

ere, for that m
atter, subject to the C

ourt’s supervision. 

4.14 
The State party notes that both the com

plainant’s m
other and his w

ife filed com
plaints 

w
ith the Prison Service about poor conditions of detention, on 30 M

arch and 10 M
ay 2018, 

and 
that 

investigations 
by 

the 
G

eneral 
D

elegation 
for 

Prison 
A

dm
inistration 

and 
R

eintegration concluded that all the allegations w
ere unfounded. 

4.15 
The State party reports that the com

plainant’s conditions of detention are regularly 
m

onitored by the N
ational H

um
an R

ights C
ouncil. The com

plainant w
as visited by a 

delegation from
 the C

ouncil on 28 M
ay 2019 and by the Tan-Tan-G

uelm
im

 R
egional H

um
an 

R
ights C

om
m

ission on 18 July 2019. H
e w

as also visited by the D
eputy C

row
n Prosecutor 

at Tifelt C
ourt of First Instance on 21 M

arch and 28 M
ay 2019. 

4.16 
The State party adds that the com

plainant is currently detained in Tifelt 2 category B 
prison and enjoys all his rights in accordance w

ith international standards. H
e has been placed 

in the infirm
ary in an individual cell that m

eets health and safety standards and has not been 
placed in solitary confinem

ent as alleged in his com
m

unication. H
e receives appropriate 

m
edical attention. Since his incarceration in 2010, he has attended 24 outpatient consultations 

and 275 inpatient consultations, including 39 since his transfer to Tifelt 2 prison. H
e has tw

ice 
refused to go to the public hospital, w

here appointm
ents had been scheduled, in protest 

against the w
earing of prison uniform

. H
e also enjoys the rights to receive visits and 

com
m

unicate w
ith his fam

ily by telephone. H
e is given his m

eals and is entitled to show
er 

according to a schedule and take a daily w
alk. H

e is in his second year of studying econom
ics 

and m
anagem

ent at the G
uelm

im
 Faculty of Econom

ics. 

 
 

 
12 The State party refers to the prelim

inary hearing reports draw
n up by the investigating judge of the 

m
ilitary court on 12 N

ovem
ber 2010 and 25 February 2011. 

 
13 A

ct N
o. 76-15 on the reorganization of the C

ouncil broadened its rem
it, in particular by designating it 

the national preventive m
echanism

 pursuant to the O
ptional Protocol to the Convention, to w

hich 
M

orocco acceded in 2014. 
 

14 The State party attaches a copy of the report of the expert m
edical exam

inations carried out on 16 
February and 13 M

arch 2017 and the doctors’ curricula vitae. 
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C
om

m
ents by the com

plainant and the State party on the request for interim
 

m
easures 

 
 

Com
plainant 

5. 
In his com

m
unication of 28 M

ay 2020, the com
plainant subm

its that the State party 
has never im

plem
ented the interim

 m
easures. H

e does not receive m
edical care and his health 

continues to deteriorate. H
e rem

ains in prolonged solitary confinem
ent in Tifelt 2 prison. 

 
 

State party 

6. 
In its observations of 7 July 2020, the State party indicates that the com

plainant, w
ho 

is incarcerated in the Tifelt 2 prison, enjoys all his rights as a prisoner and has never been 
subjected to solitary confinem

ent, contrary to his allegations. H
e is detained in com

pletely 
norm

al conditions and has the right to take w
alks, the right to fam

ily visits, w
hich has been 

preserved despite the interim
 restrictive m

easures related to the C
O

V
ID

-19 pandem
ic, and 

the right to daily telephone calls, including on Saturdays and Sundays. The State party further 
reiterates that the com

plainant is receiving appropriate m
edical care and that the results of 

the laboratory analyses carried out do not point to any abnorm
alities. 

 
 

Com
plainant 

7.1 
In his com

m
ents dated 8 O

ctober 2020, the com
plainant states that, on 21 Septem

ber 
2020, he w

as transferred to A
ït M

elloul prison. H
e says that he cannot leave his cell, that he 

is therefore confined there 24 hours a day and that the cell does not m
eet m

inim
um

 hygiene 
standards. The com

plainant explains that he is in a severe state of physical and psychological 
distress and that, in view

 of this situation, he has decided to go on a hunger strike the 
follow

ing w
eek. H

e asks the State party to explain this disturbing inform
ation, since these 

m
easures are, as they stand, tantam

ount to reprisals. 

7.2 
In his com

m
ents dated 13 O

ctober 2020, the com
plainant clarifies that he had 

requested interim
 m

easures because he and his co-defendants have been subjected to reprisals 
follow

ing the 2017 judgm
ent of the R

abat court of appeal and the C
om

m
ittee’s decision in 

Asfari v. M
orocco. 15 H

e states that he had never been placed in solitary confinem
ent prior to 

2017 and that this confinem
ent is ongoing, w

ith no investigation having been opened. H
e 

argues that his detention regim
e am

ounts to solitary confinem
ent, even though it has not been 

categorized as such under M
oroccan law

. H
e explains that, in O

ctober 2019, after his 
com

plaint w
as lodged w

ith the C
om

m
ittee, he w

as placed in the Tifelt 2 prison infirm
ary. 

W
hile there, he could hear the other patients shouting day and night. H

e explains that, w
ithin 

the prison, he suffers from
 discrim

ination and racist insults. 

 
 

C
om

plainant’s com
m

ents on the State party’s observations on adm
issibility and the 

m
erits 

8.1 
O

n 12 O
ctober 2020, the com

plainant subm
itted his com

m
ents on the State party’s 

observations. H
e argues that the com

m
unication is adm

issible, pointing out that the fact that 
m

ore than eight years having elapsed since the alleged events w
ithout any investigation 

having been carried out by the State party is in itself evidence that dom
estic rem

edies are not 
effective. 

8.2 
The com

plainant m
aintains that the appeal that is still before the C

ourt of C
assation 

cannot be considered an effective rem
edy because the C

ourt rules only on m
atters of law

 and 
on the basis of the case before it, nam

ely the acts of w
hich the com

plainant is accused. The 
C

ourt cannot review
 a final decision of a court of first instance and is not com

petent to 
determ

ine w
hether the com

plainant’s confession w
as obtained as a result of torture or to order 

an investigation into allegations of torture. 

8.3 
The com

plainant reiterates that he has brought his treatm
ent to the attention of the 

M
oroccan authorities on num

erous occasions and, as a last resort, to the attention of the 
C

om
m

ittee, w
ithout any investigation having been opened to date. H

e recalls that 

 
 

 
15 C

A
T/C

/59/D
/606/2014. 
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prosecutions are the sole preserve of the public prosecutor’s office, w
hich has still not 

exercised its pow
ers to institute crim

inal proceedings. 

8.4 
A

s to the m
erits, the com

plainant recalls that his com
plaint concerns the circum

stances 
of his arrest, his tim

e in police custody and the ill-treatm
ent to w

hich he w
as subjected, and 

not the reasons for his conviction, since this is not a m
atter for the C

om
m

ittee. H
e considers 

that the State party appears to be deliberately confusing the crim
inal case w

ith the failure to 
open an investigation into his allegations of torture. 

8.5 
The com

plainant observes that the State party m
erely asserts that he signed his 

statem
ents voluntarily. In so doing, it m

aintains its interpretation of article 291 of the C
ode 

of C
rim

inal Procedure, according to w
hich the reports draw

n up by the crim
inal investigation 

departm
ent constitute prim

a facie evidence. Indeed, the only supporting docum
ent subm

itted 
by the State party is the record of the confession, w

hich the com
plainant states w

as extracted 
under duress. The State party continues to try to reverse the burden of proof by forcing the 
com

plainant to prove that he w
as not tortured. 

8.6 
W

ith regard to the State party’s argum
ent that the com

plainant could have had 
recourse to the N

ational H
um

an R
ights C

ouncil by filing a com
plaint, he points out that the 

C
ouncil can take up the m

atter on its ow
n initiative and that, although it w

as aw
are of the 

situation of the com
plainant and his co-defendants, it never did so. H

e subm
its that the 

C
ouncil cannot be considered a judicial m

echanism
 or an adequate m

echanism
 for 

investigating allegations of torture. 

8.7 
The com

plainant observes that the State party does not indicate that he received any 
m

edical attention at all during the period of the acts reported in his com
plaint. The State 

party’s observations are all the m
ore w

orrying since it seem
s to believe that the com

plainant 
is in perfect health, even though he has had m

any m
edical consultations. B

esides, it is 
unlikely that a person in “perfect health” w

ould have to spend several w
eeks in the infirm

ary, 
for w

hich no justification is given. Furtherm
ore, the State party does not prove that he w

as 
provided w

ith prom
pt and independent legal and m

edical assistance or that he w
as able to 

contact his fam
ily im

m
ediately. The com

plainant reiterates his claim
 that the State party 

violated his rights under articles 2, 11, 12, 13, 15 and 16 of the C
onvention. 

 
 

A
dditional observations by the com

plainant and the State party on the request for 
interim

 m
easures 

 
 

State party 

9.1 
In its com

m
ents dated 11 D

ecem
ber 2020, the State party reiterates that the 

com
plainant’s 

claim
s 

are 
unfounded 

and 
categorically 

denounces 
his 

approach 
of 

deliberately and continuously em
broidering a series of false allegations. It repeats its 

observations of 27 June 2019, 20 D
ecem

ber 2019 and 7 July 2020. It states that the 
com

plainant w
as transferred to the local A

ït M
elloul 1 prison on 19 Septem

ber 2020 and 
placed in an individual cell that m

eets international standards and that this w
as in no w

ay the 
result of a solitary confinem

ent m
easure. It adds that the com

plainant had 17 telephone calls 
w

ith his relatives betw
een 21 Septem

ber and 26 O
ctober 2020. It reiterates that the 

com
plainant has access to m

edical care and that the question of w
hether he can consult a 

doctor of his choice is inherently inappropriate in view
 of the nature and functioning of 

prisons. 

9.2 
The State party em

phasizes that the com
plainant underw

ent a m
edical exam

ination on 
21 and 22 Septem

ber 2020 and is in good general health. It rejects the allegation that, from
 5 

M
ay 2018 to 19 Septem

ber 2020, the com
plainant w

as placed in a single room
 in the Tifelt 

2 prison infirm
ary for close m

edical follow
-up im

m
ediately after subm

itting his com
plaint to 

the C
om

m
ittee. It states that the com

plainant did not declare a hunger strike on the above-
m

entioned dates. The com
plainant w

as received by the G
overnor of A

ït M
elloul prison on 7 

O
ctober 2020 and w

as able to m
ake a num

ber of requests. The State party points out that the 
com

plainant has never been subjected to reprisals or any other form
 of intim

idation and that 
there is no justification for investigating the m

atter on the basis of the inform
ation subm

itted. 
It also notes that the com

plainant is not currently eligible for alternatives to detention. 
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Com
plainant 

10. 
In his com

m
ents dated 20 D

ecem
ber 2020, the com

plainant states that he has been in 
solitary confinem

ent at A
ït M

elloul 1 prison for 25 days, that he has not been able to contact 
his counsel and that he continues to call his fam

ily in the presence of prison officials. O
n 9 

A
pril 2021, the com

plainant reported that he w
as likely to have to undergo a m

edical 
operation. 

 
 

A
dditional observations by the State party 

11.1 
O

n 19 M
arch 2021, the State party subm

itted additional observations. It points out 
that, on 25 N

ovem
ber 2020, the C

ourt of C
assation dism

issed the appeal lodged by the 
com

plainant. It again deplores the com
plainant’s m

anifest intention to use his allegations to 
exonerate him

self from
 the serious offences of w

hich he w
as convicted after a fair trial. 

11.2 
R

egarding the com
plainant’s contention that the m

edical exam
ination ordered by the 

court of appeal does not satisfy the State’s obligation to conduct an investigation, the State 
party indicates that the com

plainant seem
s to have deliberately forgotten that an exam

ination 
is ordered only if the defence requests one on the basis of the relevant provisions of the C

ode 
of C

rim
inal Procedure or if the judge considers there to be reasonable grounds for one. It 

reaffirm
s that the com

m
ission w

as im
partial, com

petent and professional. 

11.3 
The State party reiterates that the com

plainant has never been subjected to solitary 
confinem

ent in any of the prisons in w
hich he has been held and that his im

prisonm
ent has 

alw
ays been in line w

ith relevant international standards. W
ith regard to the concern 

expressed about the num
ber of m

edical consultations, it underlines that this num
ber, w

hich 
the com

plainant considers to be high, in itself dem
onstrates the w

illingness of the G
eneral 

D
elegation for Prison A

dm
inistration and R

eintegration to ensure that prisoners have optim
al 

access to m
edical care. A

s to the right to receive visits, it points out that, in order to com
bat 

the spread of C
O

V
ID

-19 in prisons, the G
eneral D

elegation had to suspend all visits to 
prisons from

 M
arch 2020. The com

plainant has regular telephone conversations tw
ice per 

w
eek w

ith his m
other and his w

ife. Law
yers’ visits w

ere still allow
ed despite the m

easures 
related to the pandem

ic, but no law
yer for the com

plainant w
ent to m

eet him
. 

11.4 
M

oreover, the State party indicates that the N
ational H

um
an R

ights C
ouncil is a 

constitutional institution for the protection and prom
otion of hum

an rights that w
as created 

in 1990, has been w
orking in accordance w

ith the principles relating to the status of national 
institutions for the prom

otion and protection of hum
an rights (the Paris Principles) since 2001 

and has been accredited w
ith A

 status for m
ore than 20 years. It claim

s that the C
ouncil has 

never received a com
plaint from

 the com
plainant nor been inform

ed of any possible acts of 
torture or ill-treatm

ent against him
, w

hich w
ould enable it to take up the case on its ow

n 
initiative. 

 
 

Issues and proceedings before the C
om

m
ittee 

 
 

Consideration of adm
issibility 

12.1 
B

efore considering any com
plaint contained in a com

m
unication, the C

om
m

ittee m
ust 

decide w
hether the com

plaint is adm
issible under article 22 of the C

onvention. The 
C

om
m

ittee has ascertained, as it is required to do under article 22 (5) (a) of the C
onvention, 

that the sam
e m

atter has not been and is not being exam
ined under another procedure of 

international investigation or settlem
ent. 

12.2 
The C

om
m

ittee notes that the State party has contested the adm
issibility of the 

com
plaint on the grounds of non-exhaustion of dom

estic rem
edies. In this regard, the 

C
om

m
ittee observes that the State party had initially indicated that the appeal before the 

C
ourt of C

assation, w
hich w

as lodged by the com
plainant and his co-defendants on 29 

Septem
ber 2017, w

as still pending and that dom
estic rem

edies had thus not been exhausted. 
H

ow
ever, it also takes note of the inform

ation from
 the State party that, on 25 N

ovem
ber 

2020, the C
ourt of C

assation ultim
ately rejected the com

plainant’s appeal. The C
om

m
ittee 

concludes that the State party’s challenge to the adm
issibility of the com

plaint is no longer 
relevant, since a judgm

ent has already been handed dow
n on the appeal before the C

ourt of 
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C
assation and it is therefore no longer necessary for the C

om
m

ittee to rule on the 
effectiveness of this rem

edy in the present case. 

12.3 
W

ith regard to the State party’s allegation that the present com
plaint constitutes an 

abuse of the right to subm
it a com

plaint, the C
om

m
ittee recalls that neither the C

onvention 
nor its rules of procedure establish a tim

e lim
it for subm

itting a com
plaint. In any event, a 

period of one year and seven m
onths elapsed betw

een the handing dow
n of the judgm

ent of 
the R

abat court of appeal and the subm
ission of the com

plaint to the C
om

m
ittee, w

hich in 
this case cannot serve as grounds for concluding that the right to subm

it a com
plaint is being 

abused. 

12.4 
W

ith reference to article 22 (4) of the C
onvention and rule 111 of the C

om
m

ittee’s 
rules of procedure, the C

om
m

ittee finds no other obstacle to the adm
issibility of the 

com
plaint and proceeds w

ith its consideration of the m
erits. 

 
 

Consideration of the m
erits 

13.1 
In accordance w

ith article 22 (4) of the C
onvention, the C

om
m

ittee has considered 
the com

m
unication in the light of all the inform

ation m
ade available to it by the parties. 

13.2 
The C

om
m

ittee notes the com
plainant’s claim

 that the physical abuse he suffered 
during his arrest and his interrogation at the gendarm

erie of Laâyoune and the treatm
ent to 

w
hich he w

as subjected during his transfer by plane constitute acts of torture under article 1 
of the C

onvention. The C
om

m
ittee also notes the State party’s argum

ent that, in view
 of the 

allegations of torture m
ade by the com

plainant and his co-defendants in the civil proceedings, 
the R

abat court of appeal appointed three doctors to carry out a m
edical exam

ination on 16 
February and 13 M

arch 2017. The C
om

m
ittee notes that the m

edical evaluation concluded 
that “his current sym

ptom
s and the objective findings of our exam

ination are not specific to 
the various alleged m

ethods of torture”. The C
om

m
ittee observes the State party’s argum

ent 
that the m

edical exam
ination dem

onstrated that the m
arks and com

plications suffered by the 
com

plainant w
ere not the result of torture or ill-treatm

ent. N
evertheless, the C

om
m

ittee also 
notes the com

plainant’s allegation that the exam
ination w

as not conducted in accordance 
w

ith the Istanbul Protocol. In this regard, the C
om

m
ittee notes that the findings of the m

edical 
exam

inations of the com
plainant and his co-defendants w

ere presented to international 
doctors, w

ho provided second opinions concluding that the Istanbul Protocol had not been 
respected, in particular ow

ing to a failure to com
ply w

ith the principles of independence and 
im

partiality of the experts w
ho carried out the exam

ination, the very short duration of the 
interview

s, the inadequacy of the evaluation of traum
a and psychological harm

 and the fact 
that the findings of all the expert reports w

ere identical, w
ith no indication of the degree of 

com
patibility of the injuries observed w

ith the abuse reported. The C
om

m
ittee notes that the 

State party attests to the im
partiality, com

petence and professionalism
 of the experts. 

H
ow

ever, it considers that the State party does not provide any relevant explanation to 
confirm

 that the m
edical exam

ination w
as carried out in accordance w

ith the Istanbul 
Protocol as part of an official investigation into the com

plainant’s allegations of torture. The 
C

om
m

ittee further notes that the m
edical exam

ination w
as carried out m

ore than six years 
after the alleged events and that the tim

e elapsed betw
een the tw

o does not seem
 to have been 

taken into account. The C
om

m
ittee recalls its jurisprudence according to w

hich any person 
deprived of his or her liberty m

ust be given access to prom
pt and independent legal and 

m
edical assistance and m

ust be able to contact his or her fam
ily in order to prevent torture. 16 

Taking account of the com
plainant’s assertion that he did not have access to any of these 

safeguards during his pretrial detention, and in the absence of convincing inform
ation from

 
the State party challenging these allegations, the C

om
m

ittee considers that the physical ill-
treatm

ent and injuries that the com
plainant says that he suffered during his arrest, 

interrogation and detention constitute torture w
ithin the m

eaning of article 1 of the 
C

onvention. 17 

13.3 
The C

om
m

ittee considers that all the treatm
ent that the com

plainant alleges w
as 

inflicted on him
 during his detention, that is: (a) being suspended upside dow

n and given 

 
 

 
16 G

eneral com
m

ent N
o. 2 (2007) on the im

plem
entation of article 2 by States parties. 

 
17 Asfari v. M

orocco, para. 13.2. 



C
A

T
/C

/72/D
/923/2019 

12 
G

E.22-01047 

electric shocks, repeatedly beaten and insulted; (b) the insanitary conditions of his various 
detention cells; (c) the long periods of solitary confinem

ent w
ithout being able to be seen by 

a doctor of his choice; and (d) the restricted access to his law
yer and fam

ily; also constitutes 
a violation of article 1 of the C

onvention. A
ccordingly, the C

om
m

ittee does not consider it 
necessary to exam

ine separately the claim
s under article 16 of the C

onvention. 18 

13.4 
The com

plainant also invokes article 2 (1) of the C
onvention, pursuant to w

hich the 
State party should have taken effective legislative, adm

inistrative, judicial or other m
easures 

to prevent acts of torture in any territory under its jurisdiction. The C
om

m
ittee recalls its 

concluding observations on the fourth periodic report of M
orocco, in w

hich it expressed its 
concern about events in W

estern Sahara and allegations of, inter alia, torture, ill-treatm
ent 

and the extraction of confessions under torture, 19 and called on the State party to take urgent 
and substantive steps to prevent all acts of torture and ill-treatm

ent, and to announce a policy 
that w

ould produce m
easurable progress tow

ards the eradication of all torture and ill-
treatm

ent by State officials. In the present case, the C
om

m
ittee notes the com

plainant’s 
allegations about the treatm

ent inflicted on him
 by State officials w

hile he w
as in police 

custody, w
ithout being able to contact his fam

ily or have access to counsel or a doctor. The 
State authorities did not take any steps to investigate the acts of torture suffered by the 
com

plainant and, if appropriate, punish the perpetrators, despite his visible signs of torture 
and the com

plaints he subm
itted in this regard to the m

ilitary court. In view
 of the above, the 

C
om

m
ittee finds a violation of article 2 (1), read in conjunction w

ith article 1, of the 
C

onvention. 20 

13.5 
A

ccording to the com
plainant, the State party violated article 11 of the C

onvention 
because it failed to properly m

onitor the treatm
ent he received during his detention. The 

C
om

m
ittee notes the com

plainant’s allegations that he w
as subjected to ill-treatm

ent during 
his detention, had no access to a doctor of his choice despite his poor state of health, w

as kept 
in solitary confinem

ent and w
as deprived of regular visits from

 his fam
ily. The C

om
m

ittee 
notes that the com

plainant repeatedly com
plained about his conditions of detention w

ithout 
having effective rem

edies to challenge the ill-treatm
ent. The C

om
m

ittee recalls its 
concluding observations on the fourth periodic report of M

orocco, in w
hich it expressed 

regret at the lack of inform
ation on the practical application of basic safeguards such as 

exam
ination by an independent physician and notification of the fam

ily. 21 In the present case, 
the C

om
m

ittee notes that the State party has provided general inform
ation on the 

com
plainant’s conditions of detention and his m

edical care w
ithout giving relevant 

explanations to dem
onstrate that it carried out the necessary m

onitoring. M
oreover, the 

C
om

m
ittee notes that, aside from

 indicating the num
ber of m

edical consultations that the 
com

plainant allegedly had, the State party has not provided any explanation of his conditions 
of detention during the period betw

een N
ovem

ber 2010 and February 2019, w
hen his 

com
plaint w

as subm
itted to the C

om
m

ittee. In the absence of any inform
ation from

 the State 
party to dem

onstrate that the com
plainant w

as indeed placed under its supervision throughout 
his detention, and of any evidence that his com

plaints w
ere handled properly and that he 

received effective m
edical care, the C

om
m

ittee concludes that there w
as a violation of article 

11 of the C
onvention. 22 

13.6 
The C

om
m

ittee m
ust also decide w

hether the fact that no investigation has been 
opened into the allegations of torture that the com

plainant subm
itted to the judicial authorities 

constitutes a violation by the State party of its obligations under article 12 of the C
onvention. 

The C
om

m
ittee takes note of the com

plainant’s allegations that he appeared before the 
m

ilitary investigating judge on 12 N
ovem

ber 2010 bearing visible signs of torture and that 
he reported the torture to the judge, but no investigation w

as carried out. The C
om

m
ittee 

notes the State party’s argum
ent that the com

plainant did not raise the allegations of torture 
w

ith the com
petent authorities. It also notes that, after the case w

as referred to the R
abat court 

of appeal and the com
plainant and his co-defendants m

ade allegations of torture, the 
 

 
 

18 Ram
iro Ram

írez M
artínez et al. v. M

exico (C
A

T/C
/55/D

/500/2012), para. 17.4. 
 

19 C
A

T/C
/M

A
R

/C
O

/4, para. 12. See also C
C

PR
/C

/M
A

R
/C

O
/6, paras. 23 and 24. 

 
20 See, for exam

ple, Ndarisigaranye v. Burundi (C
A

T/C
/62/D

/493/2012 and 
C

A
T/C

/62/D
/493/2012/Corr.1), para. 8.3; and E.N

. v. Burundi (C
A

T/C
/56/D

/578/2013), para. 7.5. 
 

21 C
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A
R

/C
O

/4, para. 7. 
 

22 E.N
. v. Burundi, para. 7.6. 
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com
plainant underw

ent a m
edical exam

ination ordered by the court. In this connection, it 
notes the com

plainant’s claim
s that the m

edical exam
inations ordered by the court w

ere not 
im

partial and w
ere not carried out as part of an investigation into the torture he suffered, as 

they ought to have been pursuant to the Istanbul Protocol. The C
om

m
ittee reiterates that, 

w
hile it notes that the State party attests to the im

partiality, com
petence and professionalism

 
of the experts w

ho conducted the m
edical exam

inations, it considers that the State party does 
not provide any relevant explanation to dem

onstrate that the exam
ination w

as carried out in 
accordance w

ith the Istanbul Protocol, as part of an official investigation into the 
com

plainant’s allegations of torture. The C
om

m
ittee further notes that the State party has far 

exceeded the reasonable length of tim
e for dispensing justice in the com

plainant’s case and 
that, 11 years after the events and the subm

ission of the first allegations of torture, no 
investigation in accordance w

ith the Istanbul Protocol has been carried out. In the light of the 
above, the C

om
m

ittee considers that the absence of any investigation into the allegations of 
torture in the com

plainant’s case is incom
patible w

ith the State party’s obligation under 
article 12 of the C

onvention to ensure that its com
petent authorities proceed to a prom

pt and 
im

partial investigation w
herever there is reasonable ground to believe that an act of torture 

has been com
m

itted. 23 

13.7 
The C

om
m

ittee further notes the com
plainant’s claim

 that the State party has also 
failed to com

ply w
ith its obligation under article 13 of the Convention to ensure his right to 

lodge a com
plaint, w

hich im
plies that the authorities m

ust provide a satisfactory response to 
such a com

plaint by launching a prom
pt and im

partial investigation. 24 The C
om

m
ittee notes 

that article 13 does not require the form
al lodging of a com

plaint of torture under the 
procedure laid dow

n in national law
, nor does it require an express statem

ent of intention to 
bring a crim

inal case. It is enough for the victim
 sim

ply to bring the facts to the attention of 
an authority of the State for the State to be obliged to consider it as a tacit but unequivocal 
expression of the victim

’s w
ish that the facts should be prom

ptly and im
partially investigated, 

as required by this provision of the C
onvention. 25 In view

 of the foregoing, the C
om

m
ittee 

concludes that the facts of the present case also constitute a violation of article 13 of the 
C

onvention. 

13.8 
R

egarding the com
plainant’s allegations under article 14 of the C

onvention, the 
C

om
m

ittee recalls that this provision recognizes the right of the victim
 of an act of torture to 

fair and adequate com
pensation and requires States parties to ensure that he or she obtains 

redress for all injuries suffered. R
edress m

ust cover all the harm
 suffered and encom

pass 
restitution, 

com
pensation 

and 
guarantees 

of 
non-repetition, 

taking 
into 

account 
the 

circum
stances of each individual case. 26 In the present case, the C

om
m

ittee notes the 
com

plainant’s allegation that the ill-treatm
ent he suffered had a disastrous im

pact on his 
m

ental and physical w
ell-being. The failure of the m

ilitary investigating judge to order an 
investigation into the allegations of torture and the fact that the m

edical exam
ination ordered 

by the court of appeal w
as not carried out in accordance w

ith the Istanbul Protocol and as 
part of such an investigation prevented the com

plainant from
 receiving rehabilitation, 

com
pensation, support and guarantees of non-repetition of the crim

e. The C
om

m
ittee 

therefore considers that the failure to conduct a prom
pt and im

partial investigation denied the 
com

plainant any possibility of exercising his right to redress, in violation of article 14 of the 
C

onvention. 27 

13.9 
The com

plainant also claim
s to be a victim

 of a violation of article 15 of the 
C

onvention because he w
as convicted on the basis of confessions obtained through torture. 

H
e claim

s to have confessed to nothing but to have been forced, w
hile handcuffed and 

blindfolded, to sign a docum
ent w

hose contents w
ere unknow

n to him
. The C

om
m

ittee 
recalls that the general nature of the provisions of article 15 derives from

 the absolute nature 
of the prohibition of torture and therefore im

plies an obligation for any State party to verify 
that statem

ents included in proceedings under its jurisdiction w
ere not obtained through 

 
 

 
23 Asfari v. M

orocco, para. 13.4. 
 

24 Bendib v. Algeria (C
A

T/C/51/D
/376/2009), para. 6.6. 

 
25 Parot v. Spain (C

A
T/C

/14/D
/6/1990), para. 10.4; Blanco Abad v. Spain (C

A
T/C

/20/D
/59/1996), para. 

8.6; and Ltaief v. Tunisia (C
A

T/C/31/D
/189/2001), para. 10.6. 

 
26 Bendib v. Algeria, para. 6.7. 

 
27 N
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a v. Burundi (C

A
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/53/D
/514/2012), para. 8.6; and Asfari v. M

orocco, para. 13.6. 



C
A

T
/C

/72/D
/923/2019 

14 
G

E.22-01047 

torture. 28 In the present case, the C
om

m
ittee notes that, according to the com

plainant, the 
statem

ents that he signed as a result of torture served as a basis for his prosecution and 
conviction, and that he questioned the probative value of the confession signed under torture 
at various stages of the proceedings against him

, w
ithout success. The C

om
m

ittee notes that 
the court of appeal did not give due consideration to the allegations of torture w

hen 
sentencing the com

plainant on the basis of his confession. B
y failing to verify the substance 

of the com
plainant’s claim

s other than through the m
edical exam

ination ordered by the court 
of appeal, w

hich w
as not carried out in accordance w

ith the Istanbul Protocol, and by using 
such statem

ents in the judicial proceedings against the com
plainant, the State party 

m
anifestly violated its obligations under article 15 of the C

onvention. The C
om

m
ittee recalls 

that, in its concluding observations on the fourth periodic report of M
orocco, 29 it expressed 

concern about the fact that, under the State party’s current system
 of investigation, 

confessions are com
m

only used as evidence for purposes of prosecution and conviction, thus 
creating conditions that m

ay provide m
ore scope for the torture and ill-treatm

ent of 
suspects. 30 

14. 
The C

om
m

ittee, acting under article 22 (7) of the C
onvention, decides that the facts 

before it reveal a violation by the State party of article 2 (1), read in conjunction w
ith article 

1, and articles 11 to 15 of the C
onvention. 

15. 
The C

om
m

ittee urges the State party to: (a) provide the com
plainant w

ith fair and 
adequate com

pensation, including the m
eans for the fullest rehabilitation possible; (b) initiate 

a thorough and im
partial investigation into the incidents in question, in full conform

ity w
ith 

the guidelines of the Istanbul Protocol, w
ith a view

 to bringing those responsible for the 
victim

’s treatm
ent to justice; (c) return the com

plainant to the group regim
e in a prison closer 

to his fam
ily; (d) conduct a prom

pt and effective investigation into the com
plainant’s 

allegations of reprisals and refrain from
 any form

 of pressure, intim
idation or reprisals likely 

to harm
 the physical and m

oral integrity of the com
plainant, w

hich w
ould otherw

ise 
constitute a violation of the State party’s obligations under the C

onvention to cooperate w
ith 

the C
om

m
ittee in good faith in the im

plem
entation of the provisions of the C

onvention; and 
(e) enable the com

plainant to receive visits from
 his fam

ily, his counsel and a doctor of his 
choice in prison. 

16. 
Pursuant to rule 118 (5) of its rules of procedure, the C

om
m

ittee invites the State party 
to inform

 it, w
ithin 90 days from

 the date of transm
ittal of the present decision, of the steps 

it has taken to respond to the above observations. 
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